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Closed Session – 6:00 PM 
Regular Meeting – 7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom - Camden, North Carolina 
 

MINUTES 

The regular meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held on September 8, 2020 in the Historic 
Courtroom, Camden, North Carolina.   
 
WELCOME & CALL TO ORDER  
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom White at 6:00 PM.  Also Present: Vice Chairman Clayton Riggs, 
Commissioners Garry Meiggs and Randy Krainiak.  Absent: Commissioner Ross Munro. 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
Motion to go into Closed Session to discuss Economic Development. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Randy Krainiak 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
The Board of Commissioners recessed the meeting at 6:20 PM. 
 
At 7:00 PM Chairman White reconvened the Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners.  State Representative 
Ed Goodwin was in attendance and was recognized by Chairman White. 
 
INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Commissioner Randy Krainiak gave the invocation and led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ITEM 1.  PUBLIC COMMENTS          
 
Penny Royal, on behalf of Sanders Crossing Subdivision, addressed the Board.  It is the request of the Sanders 
Crossing Subdivision community that the County assist them in getting the roads in the subdivision up to a standard 
that will be accepted into the NCDOT State Maintained Secondary Road System. 
 
ITEM 2.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT     
 
Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement. 
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ITEM 3.  CONSIDERATION OF THE AGENDA        
 
The agenda was amended to add as Item 7.J. – Set Public Hearing for Sale of Property located within the Camden 
County Commerce Park. 
 
Motion to approve the agenda as amended. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
ITEM 4.  PRESENTATIONS          
 

A. Camden Tourism Development Authority – Donna Stewart 
 
Camden TDA Director Donna Stewart announced the 2nd Annual Camden TDA Photo Contest to take place October 
1, 2020 – November 1, 2020.  This year’s contest is sponsored by Towne Bank.   
 

B. Broadband Update – Eastern Shore Communications 
 
Ronald van Geijn of Eastern Shore Communications included the following in his report: 

• As of Friday, September 4, 2020 ESC had received all but one of the necessary permits from NCDOT to 
continue its work. 

• Next Steps – ESC will begin to build fiber from the area of the convenience site in South Mills at 17 & 343 
into Camden and then north to 158 and continuing along 343 across the railroad tracks – approximately 26 
miles of fiber.   

• The materials needed for this portion of the project have been ordered and most of it is now in port and 
what has been received is in ESC’s warehouse. 

• The work of drilling under the railroad tracks is set to begin in about two weeks. 
• The remaining permit to be obtained is for work to be done along Route 17/ Future I-87.  ESC is working 

with the local division of the Department of Transportation to complete the application process 
requirements. 

 
Several Commissioners expressed concern that the underserved and unserved households have an opportunity to 
connect as well.   
 
South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 
 
Chairman White recessed the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water 
& Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting. 
 
Public Comments – None 
 
Consideration of the Agenda 
 
Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 
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RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
New Business 
 

A. Monthly Report – David Credle 
 

 
 

 
 
Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Consent Agenda 
 

A. Bellwether Meter Reading Services 
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B. Surplus Property 
 
Requested by:  David Credle / Public Works 
Item:    2008 Chevy 2500 Pickup 4x4 with Service Bed; 245,222 miles 
Reason for Surplus:  High mileage; replaced. 
Suggested Value:  $2,000 
 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Motion to adjourn South Camden Water & Sewer Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Chairman White reconvened the Board of Commissioners. 
 
ITEM 5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS          
 

A. South Mills Landing – Dan Porter 
 
Motion to open the Public Hearing for South Mills Landing Development Agreement and Master Plan / 
Preliminary Plat. 
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RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Planning Director Dan Porter briefly described the project.   
 
South Mills Landing LLC is requesting Master Plan/Preliminary Plan approval for South Mills Landing Planned 
Development.  The development consists of 580 single-family and multi-family dwellings, commercial and 
recreational areas with club house, pool, and walking paths.  The subdivision is located within the South Mills Core 
Village area on the north and south sides of Main Street.  The phasing schedule anticipation is for build out within 6 
to 10 years. 
 
South Mills Water Association and South Camden Water & Sewer District have approved water and sewer capacity, 
respectively for Phase 1 of 129 units.  Water and sewer for additional Phases are in the Development Agreement.  
The Technical Review Committee inputs are varied and are included in packet. 
 
The existing Storm Water Model is complete and the post Storm Water Drainage Plan will require approval of the 
County storm water engineer.   
 
Upon approval of the preliminary plat, construction plans will be completed and require approval of staff and state 
and local technical agencies prior to beginning construction. 
 
The Planning Board voted to recommend approval on a 3-2 vote.   
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Applicant Mark Bissell of Bissell Professional Group addressed the board and included the following in his 
presentation: 

• Key Elements of the Plan 
 Objective and Master Plan of Development 
 Phasing Plan 
 Utilities & Drainage 
 Summary of Zoning Commitments 
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 Compatibility & Consistency 
 Economic Impact 

• TRC Review – Concerns Addressed 
 Added bus stop signs and shelters to plan 
 Phasing/Spreading out development to address school capacity 
 Systems will be flood-proofed; fees will more than pay for expansion to address sewer capacity 

and design 
 Horseshoe Road to be improved/reworked; drainage to be improved 
 Looping water system to address fire protection 
 Development will provide additional funds to address Sheriff’s Office funding 
 Street names to be updated and approved 

• Neighborhood Meeting – Concerns Addressed 
 Modeling; storage and controlled release; downstream improvements to address stormwater issues 
 Connecting to County system; providing funds for expansion to address wastewater concerns 
 New line under canal; looping for flow & pressure; impact fees will address water concerns 
 Creating positive impact on the County Budget to address school concerns 
 Commercial Development will not take place until sufficient population is in place 
 Price range of homes – Expect $240,000+ 
 TIA completed; road improvements will be made accordingly to address traffic concerns 

• Terms & Conditions 
 
Mr. Porter reviewed portions of the Development Agreement and the Development Schedule Fiscal Years and 
Capacities. 
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Public Comments 
 
Due to attendance restrictions in regard to COVID-19, citizens were given the option to send comments via email.  
The following individuals sent comments via email, which were read aloud by the Clerk to the Board: 
 
Kristen Higens, Horseshoe Road – Opposed   
Summary of Concerns: 

• Schools / Buses / Bus Drivers 
• Post Office handling of mail/packages 
• South Mills Water issues 
• Internet availability 
• Impacts to Sheriff’s Office  
• Volunteer Fire Department / EMS  
• Flooding / Drainage  
• Increased traffic 

 
Crystal Creef, Main Street – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding / Drainage 
• Increased traffic 
• Water issues 

 
Mary Cherry Tirak, Chamberlain Road – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• Increased burden to Law Enforcement / Fire Department / County Administration / Waste Management / 
Water and Schools 

• Possible substantial taxation increases, increased crime and wildlife endangerment 
 
Michale & Lorraine Mizells, Horseshoe Road – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• Increased burden to schools, fire and rescue departments, Sheriff’s Office. 
• Drainage / Flooding 
• Loss of small community and rural feel of Camden County 
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Christine & Walter Erb, Pier Landing – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• Adequate support of public services such as police, fire, EMS, schools. 
 
Nancy Farmer, Horseshoe Road – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• School capacity 
• Impact to Fire Protection and Sheriff’s Office 
• Increased Traffic 
• Flooding 
• Property taxes 
• Support of local small businesses 
• Loss of rural feel of the County 

 
Amy Gillikin – Opposed to South Mills Landing. 
Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding 
• School capacity  
• Internet availability 
• Increased traffic 

 
Mike & Joy Benton, Old Swamp Road – Opposed  
Summary of Concerns: 

• Close proximity of homes to other homes 
• Volunteer Fire Department impact 
• Water and Sewer Capacity 
• Farmland protection 

 
Val & Vivian Bridgers – Opposed 
Summary of Concerns: 

• Added stress to Volunteer Fire Department and Sheriff’s Office 
• Flooding 
• School capacity 
• Future I-87  

 
The following comments were submitted by email to be included in the record. 
 
Rebecca Farmer of Horseshoe Road – Opposed 
Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding 
• Traffic/Roads 
• Light Pollution 
• Mail Delivery 
• County Resources / Tax Increases 
• Loss of Rural Living 
• Crime 
• Strain on Local Small Businesses 

 
Deborah Penwell – Opposed 
Concern: 
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• Taxable business base not large enough to support additional needed county services. 
 
Additional Public Comments (in-person) 
 
Marshall Powell, Jr., Sawyer Creek Road – Opposed 
Concerns: 

• Flooding / Drainage 
 
Melissa Wright, Carolina Road – Opposed 

• Flooding / Drainage 
 
Herbert Mullen – Supported 

• Mr. Mullen spoke in favor of the development.  It is his opinion that it will be to the enhancement and 
betterment of the County and that new commercial development will also benefit the citizens. 

 
Mr. Bissell again addressed the Board to speak to the concerns that were raised during the public comment period. 

• Stormwater model analysis has been done and flooding and drainage issues will be addressed.  
Improvement of downstream drainage will also be offered.  The goal is to make it better than it is currently. 

• A new main water main under the canal will be put in to improve water pressure. 
• This project will revitalize the downtown area of South Mills. 

 
There being no further comments or questions, Chairman White to close the Public Hearing. 
 
Motion to close the Public Hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Motion to table until the October meeting. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
ITEM 6.  NEW BUSINESS          
 

A. Tax Report – Ken Bowman 
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30 Largest Unpaid – Real 

 
 
30 Oldest Unpaid - Real 
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30 Largest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 
30 Oldest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 
Motion to approve the tax report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Randy Krainiak 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
B. Golf Cart Ordinance – Danson’s Grant HOA 

 
Chairman Tom White requested to be recused in that he is a resident of the Danson’s Grant Subdivision.  It is his 
request that Vice Chairman Clayton Riggs handle this item. 
 
Motion to recuse Chairman White from participating in the discussion and voting on this item. 
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RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Amber Stone-Aguirre, representing the Danson’s Grant HOA, addressed the Board to request that the subdivision be 
included in the Golf Cart Ordinance for the County to include the streets of Billetts Bridge Road and South Mill 
Dam Road.  Ms. Stone-Aguirre also expressed appreciation to the Board for its service to the community. 
 
Vice Chairman Riggs suggested that both sides of Billetts Bridge Road and South Mill Dam Road be included for all 
the residents whose property adjoin the subdivision.   
 
Motion to approve the amendment of Chapter 70 of the Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances to include 
Danson’s Grant Subdivision and both sides of Billet’s Bridge Road and South Mill Dam Road. 

RESULT: PASSED [3-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 
RECUSED: White  
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C. Appeal of Demolition Orders (Hearing & Decision) – Keith Truman 
 
Motion to open the hearing for appeal of demolition orders. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
The Clerk to the Board administered the oath to the witnesses.   
 
Attorney Morrison: Mr. Chairman, I am requesting to be able to sit up here so I can… 

Chairman White: Yes, sir.  Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Ladies and Gentlemen, this is what’s known as a quasi-judicial…this is known as a quasi-
judicial hearing.  This means that the Board of Commissioners sits as a court.  You can only base your decision on 
evidence that you hear tonight that is sworn or exhibits that you receive into evidence.  You cannot consider 
anything you’ve learned outside of this room.  If any of you think you have a conflict of interest or you know 
something about this matter that you cannot put out of your mind before tonight now is the time to come forward.  
All right.  It is very important that we have due process.  There are property rights that apply.  That means the 
testimony will be sworn.  I will elicit direct testimony from both.  I have to be very careful in avoiding conflict of 
interest.  I am the attorney to the Board; not to the Planning Department or the Building Department.  But to 
facilitate the information I’ve got it organized for them to present.  They’ll be permitted to testify to whoever they 
want but it must be relevant and it must be evidence that would normally be admissible in a court of law, with 
certain exceptions but we’re not quite that formal.  But I will advise you if that should become an issue.   

The commissioners have the right to ask questions, in additions to the questions that I’ve asked and the opposing 
party…Mr. Overton, you will have right to cross-examine anybody that testifies for the Planning Department and 
the Planning Department has the right to cross-examine you.  [To the Commissioners] You must deliberate on this.  
A majority vote one way or the other is sufficient, but your deliberations must be in public.  All right, everybody 
understand what we’re doing?   

Okay, I will begin with the Building Inspector.  You can have a seat if you want, Mr. Overton.  You get to go next.   

Gary Overton: I’ll sit down. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  The burden of proof is on the county.  They must convince you that they have met the 
obligations of your ordinance.  Mr. Overton does not have to prove anything.  You must be convinced that the 
evidence is here.  All right, with that said, Sir, would you give us your name please. 

Keith Truman: Keith Truman. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Truman, what is your position with the County?   

Keith Truman: I was hired to be the County Code Enforcement Officer and also the Assistant Building Inspector. 

Attorney Morrison: And how long have you held that position? 

Keith Truman: It’ll be two years in October. 
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Attorney Morrison: And do you have any certifications relative to that job? 

Keith Truman: I have Level III Standard Inspection Certificates that are issued by the Department of Insurance with 
the State of North Carolina. 

Attorney Morrison: Now explain levels if you would to us please.  Level III, is that high or low? 

Keith Truman: Level III is the higher level. 

Attorney Morrison: And what are your certifications in? 

Keith Truman: Building, Plumbing, Electrical and Mechanical, which is the heating and air conditioning. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now, did you have to take any training and pass any tests in order to get those 
certifications?   

Keith Truman: Yes, you have to complete courses that are designed by Department of Insurance in Raleigh and pass 
the tests and have so many years of experience to move up through the Level I, II, and III.   

Attorney Morrison: And so you have obtained the highest level and you’ve passed all of the tests, is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Do you have any continuing educational requirements to maintain these certifications? 

Keith Truman: We have to do six hours of continuing ed in each trade every year, which is 24 hours a year.  They 
try to keep us up with the code changes, etc. 

Attorney Morrison: Now when you say each trade, you mean what you previously enunciated – building, fire, 
electrical, mechanical?   

Keith Truman: Building, plumbing, electrical and mechanical – six hours in each trade annually. 

Attorney Morrison: Now, prior to assuming this position, did you have any experience in construction of houses? 

Keith Truman: I’ve been either a building inspector or a contractor for the last 30+ years. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and were you a licensed general contractor at one time? 

Keith Truman: I was in North Carolina and Virginia.  I have my plumbing license and my electrical license also. 

Attorney Morrison: All right let’s move along then.  Are you familiar with the Camden County Ordinance 150.23? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what is that relative to? 

Keith Truman: It’s actually 150.22 I believe. 

Attorney Morrison: Yeah excuse me, you’re right.  I’m on the wrong page.   

Keith Truman: It’s the process of procedure for violations.  If you have violations to the Minimum Housing 
Ordinance or to the Housing Ordinance, as it says, that’s a due process have the property repaired or brought up to 
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what it needs to be for proper living conditions and if you’re unsuccessful in that then it continues on, lays out the 
steps that must be completed to have a piece of property repaired or demolished.   

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now do you have copies of this code ordinance for the commissioners? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, this does not have to be introduced in evidence.  This is just for your convenience.  It’s 
part of our code already.  If you would give those to the Clerk to hand out and also be sure and give a copy to Mr. 
Overton.  All right, commissioners I would direct your attention to this statute, this 150.22.  That’s on page 25.  And 
let’s talk about paragraph A.  Now Mr. Truman, I see in paragraph A it says, “If the inspector declares a residential 
or nonresidential building or structure to be unsafe the inspector must affix a notice of the unsafe character of the 
structure to a conspicuous place on the exterior wall of the building.”  And then most important, it’s what I direct 
everyone’s attention to, the next sentence, “For the purposes of this section unsafe means dangerous to life because 
of liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring or heating 
system, inadequate means of egress or other causes.”  So that’s what we’re working with here, is that correct?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now do you know property owners in Camden County…one is a corporate citizen, 
Abode of Camden; A-b-o-d-e of Camden Inc. and Geraldine and Gary Overton. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: When did you become involved with those two or those property owners? 

Keith Truman: After I was hired in October of 2018 I have had contact with them in starting this procedure again to 
complete the condemnation of these properties.  This was an ongoing thing before I started. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  What properties do they own that were of concern to you? 

Keith Truman: There’s three locations; one is 1275 NC 343 South.  It’s right before you get to Alder Branch Road; 
on the north end of Alder Branch.   

Attorney Morrison: And who owns that property? 

Keith Truman: That’s Abode of Camden, Inc.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, continue.  What is the next property? 

Keith Truman: There’s two houses – 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road. 

Attorney Morrison: And who do they belong to? 

Keith Truman: Mrs. Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: That’s Geraldine Overton? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And then are there any other properties? 
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Keith Truman: There’s a 1330 NC 343 South, which is actually between Alder Branch north end and Alder Branch 
south end.  There’s a farm property there and some warehouses.   

Attorney Morrison: And who does that belong to? 

Keith Truman: Geraldine Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: Now so we’re talking about 1275 NC 343, 1330 343 South, 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.  
We’re talking about four properties.  Is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Now did you examine these properties in the course of your duty? 

Keith Truman: I have.  I have not been inside the structures.   

Attorney Morrison: Did you examine these properties as a result of complaints from the community? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now is it true that Camden County, because we’re small and we have a small 
Planning Department and Code Enforcement, that we are primarily complaint driven on examinations like this? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: That’s correct, all right.  So tell me with regard to each property how recently you examined it 
and what you saw at the time of your examination. 

Keith Truman: Initially started this year, in April of this year, and went to the properties and looked at the outside 
condition of the buildings, the way they’re supported and not supported; the condition of water entering the 
buildings and the damage that water does when it enters buildings and any failures that there may be; any temporary 
support of these structures; and just thinking about what their condition’s going to continue to deteriorate to be. 

Attorney Morrison: And was this examination personal?  You went to the properties? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: But you said you could not go inside of some of them, is that correct? 

Keith Truman: I have not been inside.  I’ve looked in the doorway of one that has no door on it. 

Attorney Morrison: All right. 

Keith Truman: 165 I believe Alder Branch.  I have not been inside the other buildings. 

Attorney Morrison: As to all the properties, I believe you formed the same opinion and so I going to ask you, 
keeping in mind the definition I previously read from our ordinance as to what is unsafe meaning dangerous to life 
because of liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring 
or heating system, inadequate means of egress or other causes, did you form an opinion as to whether or not based 
on that, these properties were unsafe?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 
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Attorney Morrison: What was that opinion? 

Keith Truman: That they would continue to deteriorate and possibly fall on a surrounding property or necessarily if 
somebody was around the property that shouldn’t be that there could be a problem with somebody getting hurt if 
you had children trying to get inside the properties or is this property being used for illegal drugs; things of that 
nature that would be a hazard to the community and to anybody who might be up there that doesn’t need to be up 
there. 

Attorney Morrison: I specifically ask you did you form an opinion as whether these properties were in a state of 
decay? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what was that opinion? 

Keith Truman: The ones that are having a problem with water coming in them and the others that are structurally 
starting to fail because they have not been supported properly or the framing was not completed property at the 
times that they were…construction began, or that have failed because they were not supported properly on a 
permanent foundation at the time that they were located there. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now did you, as a result of that, take any action in terms of posting?   

Keith Truman: Yes, I posted a ‘Condemned Building: Keep Out by Order of the Camden County Building 
Inspector’ notice on all four of the properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Now you’re holding a document in your hand.  Is that what you posted? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: May I see that please? 

Chairman White: Mr. Morrison, can we take a five-minute recess just for a second? 

Attorney Morrison: Sure. 

Chairman White: Is that allowed? 

Attorney Morrison: Yes. 

Chairman White: So five minutes.   

[Five-minute recess] 

Chairman White: Okay, we’re going to resume our meeting. 

Attorney Morrison: All right Mr. Truman, when we left you had a placard you were showing us. 

Keith Truman: Yes, this is just an example of the placard that the County uses to post on property if they’re trying to 
do something with that property if it’s been condemned, it’s unsafe, etc. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now under our ordinance are you required to affix a notice of condemnation when you 
find a premises in these conditions? 
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Keith Truman: Yes, when we start the process I’m required to post that notice and send an accompanying letter, both 
regular mail and… 

Attorney Morrison: All right well before we get to the letter, I would draw the Commissioners’ attention, and Mr. 
Overton’s attention, to 150.22, paragraph A.  “If the inspector declares a residential or nonresidential building or a 
structure to be unsafe, the inspector must affix a notice.”  All right so and is your testimony you did that? 

Keith Truman: Yes, I have. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now can I see that placard, please?  All right now as this is printed, is this the standard 
that the County uses? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: I think you’ll want to introduce this into evidence.  Where is Mr. Overton.  Madam Clerk, this 
needs to be marked as an Exhibit and I would show the commissioners.  I believe Mr. Truman is offering to 
introduce that into evidence, Mr. Chairman.  The Board must either accept that as evidence or not.   

Chairman White: Does the Board accept that as evidence?  Yes, we do. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, the Inspector’s Exhibit I then.  All right now let’s go to…these properties, did you 
form an opinion as to how old they were; the structures?   

Keith Truman: At least 40 years to 50 years minimum.  Not sure about the ones at 1330.  But the tax card on 165 & 
167 goes back…I don’t have that in front of me but at least 40 years old.  And the house that’s at 1275 that used to 
be where Hardee’s is easily is that old. 

Attorney Morrison: Were any of these structures occupied? 

Keith Truman: No sir, not to my knowledge. 

Attorney Morrison: To your knowledge since they have been on the Abode of Camden property and on the Overton 
property, have they ever been occupied? 

Keith Truman: Not that I’m aware of.  Bear in mind I’ve been here almost two years but… 

Attorney Morrison: Did you do an investigation to learn the source of where these properties came from; the 
structures? 

Keith Truman: As I said, the one at 1275, it’s my understanding and I’ve been told it used to sit on the corner where 
Hardee’s restaurant now is. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay. 

Keith Truman: And the three beach cottages that are at 1330… 

Attorney Morrison: Now wait a minute, you’re saying beach cottages.  We haven’t talked about beach cottages.  Are 
the other properties beach cottages?   

Keith Truman: The ones on Alder Branch I don’t believe are, I’m not sure.  They’ve been there a long time and I 
don’t know the history of them.  I don’t know if they were built on the site or if they were located to that property.  
I’m not aware of… 
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Attorney Morrison: All right where were the beach cottages and why do you say they’re beach cottages? 

Keith Truman: I’ve been told that the three structures at 1330 343 South were beach cottages that were relocated 
from the beach, I’m assuming Nags Head area, to that area where they presently sit. 

Attorney Morrison: All right there are three structures on 1330 343 South.  Is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And on 165 & 167 Alder Branch how many structures are there? 

Keith Truman: There’s one house on each lot. 

Attorney Morrison: So that’s two.  All right on 1275 NC 343 South how many structures are there? 

Keith Truman: There’s one house there. 

Attorney Morrison: All right so they’ve got a total of six structures? 

Keith Truman: Yes.  

Attorney Morrison: Okay, all right.  Now did you take photographs of these structures? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Do you have those with you? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and do these photographs accurately depict the structures? 

Keith Truman: I don’t have a good picture of the 1275 one.  The others, yes.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, can you give me those photographs, please? 

Keith Truman: I know they have them already. 

Attorney Morrison: They’re in your packet? 

Commissioner Riggs: They’re in these packets. 

Attorney Morrison: They’re in your package but they’re not in evidence.  I believe Mr. Truman is now offering 
these photographs into evidence.  We’ll need a ruling if the Board is going to accept it. 

Chairman White: The Board accepts the pictures as evidence that he’s presented?  Yes, we accept it. 

Attorney Morrison: Thank you.  Madam Clerk, for your file on this, you’ll need to get those pictures out of the 
packet and enter them collectively as Building Department’s Exhibits II, I believe.  All right now will you describe 
those…what you saw with regard to each or those structures that led you to conclude it was unsafe and make 
reference to what the commissioners have in their packet. 

Keith Truman: The one that says 1330 NC Highway 343 South, that’s the beach cottages.  It has the cedar siding 
type.  The last page is dated April 17, 2020.  That’s two of the beach cottages.  This is the one I’m looking at if 
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you’re not sure what I'm talking about.  That shows two of the beach cottages.  They have been there since they 
were moved there a long time ago is my understanding.  You can see the second one in the background behind the 
one up at the highway is failing in some way.  Either the shoring that hasn’t shored up or the actual framing of the 
structure is failing and is dropped and is laying on the ground.  The other one was better supported when it was put 
there.  It appears to be in a little better condition.  That one is very close to the street driveway.  And there’s a third 
one that’s north of these two that is grown up to where you can’t hardly see it.  I could not get up to that structure to 
examine it in any way.  There’s a rental house in this same picture, you can see the handrails coming down.  I 
believe it’s a rental house.  There’s one big piece of property there on both sides of the road and I'm guessing that 
that house is a rental house.  It’s very close to the one that’s collapsing and falling on the ground.  I don’t know who 
lives there, I have seen cars there.  The structures are very close to where people are inhabiting and living.   

The other one would be the 165 & 167 Alder Branch, two individual houses.  There’s a school bus in one of the 
pictures.  It shows the two houses.  These are the oldest ones of the bunch, I believe, in my opinion.  Don’t know 
that to be exactly true.  But if you look carefully at the top of the picture at the top of the houses you can see where 
the ridgeline is starting to sag in the middle and more than likely that’s being caused because the front and rear 
exterior walls are probably separating and pushing out.  Not sure why that’s happening other than just deterioration 
and it was…the work was never completed to finish these houses to make them livable and they are deteriorating as 
such.  They’re both in similar condition.  The one on the bottom fixture by the school bus, their door is open.  You 
can see inside to the kitchen area there I believe it is?  The ceilings are falling in, a lot of growth of weeds, etc. 
inside the building.   

The other picture is the probably located at 1275 NC 343 South, which is right across…a little bit to the north of 
where Alder Branch runs into 343 South, just north.  That’s the house that was moved from where Hardee’s is to 
where it is now.  It still is being supported by the steel I-beams that it was moved on I believe.  There is no 
foundation of any kind.  It’s been sitting there all this time.  On the east side of the house, which is towards the road, 
on the one corner section…maybe a fifth of the front of the house, if that much, the shingles and tar paper have 
blown off and every time it rains, water is going into the garage area and possibly into the house part.  I don’t know 
that because I have not been inside.  But the rain is going to deteriorate the rafters and the ceiling joists and it’s 
already working on the ceiling board in the garage.  It’s going to continue to deteriorate.  The walls are tongue-and-
groove, probably yellow pine boards.  I believe it was a brick house.  I don’t know that, my gut is telling me that.  
And probably when the brick was removed the wood is exposed to the moisture and there’s probably insulation in 
the walls which may be getting wet, depending on if rainwater is getting through those boards into the insulation.  
Well then you have new problems starting if that is happening.  And that’s basically the three properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Now the photographs also show where you affixed the condemnation notice, do they not?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right now after you affixed that notice, and I would direct the Board’s attention to 
again 150.22, C.  This requires immediately upon affixing the notice upon the structure, the inspector shall send 
notice in writing by certified or registered mail to the owner of and parties in interest in the structure of the unsafe 
character of the structure and requests the owner to take prompt corrective action to repair, alter and improve the 
dwelling.  Did you do that? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And when did you do that? 

Keith Truman: The first letter was sent on April 21st.  That was sent by first-class mail. 
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Attorney Morrison: And what was the date that you posted the property? 

Keith Truman: The same day. 

Attorney Morrison: All right do you have copies of that correspondence? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: The first one.  Is this in your packet? 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And you would want to introduce it into evidence, correspondence from the County 
under the date of April 21, 2020 and Madam Clerk this will be Inspector’s Exhibit III, okay. 

Chairman White: Okay does the Board have any opposition with entering that letter as evidence? 

Keith Truman: There’s three of those. 

Chairman White: Okay, no opposition.   

Keith Truman: Three different properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Three different properties.  Well let’s do all of them together.  There’s three of the properties so 
you sent one for each of the properties? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: When you say properties you mean tracts of land, not structures. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  So that would be April 21, 2020.  There’s one for Geraldine Overton for 1330 NC 
Highway 343 South, Shiloh.  There’s one to Abode of Camden for 1275 NC Highway 343 South and another to 
Geraldine Overton, 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.  All of them are dated April 21st. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And were these sent by registered certified mail with return receipt? 

Keith Truman: Yes, as well as first class. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  So I think we’ll do these instead of three separate exhibits, Madam Clerk, these will be 
collectively one exhibit.   

Keith Truman: Here’s the second and third one also. 

Attorney Morrison: After you did this…and what was the purpose of sending these letters? 

Keith Truman: It’s primarily a notice of violation to let the property owner know that there is a problem with their 
property and they need to do something for it.   

Attorney Morrison: Is it specified where the problem is?   
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Keith Truman: 30 days…the Camden County Building Inspector has determined the unsafe character of your 
building is as follows: decay, bad conditions of walls, is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy or 
danger to children. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, I'm just trying to make certain that we followed or that you followed Section C, which 
it’s your testimony that you did.  Okay now after sending this notice, did you get any response from either Mr. 
Overton or Abode or from Ms. Geraldine Overton? 

Keith Truman: Yes, I talked to Mr. Overton on the phone.  I'm not sure if it was that day or the next day.  He just 
called to…I guess just to let me know that he was aware of it.  We talked briefly. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay and did he commit to make any repairs?   

Keith Truman: Not at that time, no sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  What about Ms. Overton, did you ever hear from her? 

Keith Truman: I had not talked to her at that time, no. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Overton is the registered agent for the Abode of Camden.  Is that correct?   

Keith Truman: He’s Ms. Overton’s son.  I'm not sure of the… 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  But you sent it to him as Abode of Camden.  (talking)  Wait a minute, you can’t have 
conversation.   

Keith Truman: I sent 1275 to Abode of Camden, which is a corporation.  And I sent the other two to Ms. Geraldine 
Overton.  

Attorney Morrison: How did you get the address for Abode of Camden? 

Keith Truman: Off the tax card. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  That’s good.  Now so the only person you heard from was Mr. Gary Overton, right? 

Keith Truman: Correct. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And you had given everybody 30 days to bring this property into compliance, correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes, as stated in the letter they had 30 days. 

Attorney Morrison: All right what happened after the expiration of 30 days?   

Keith Truman: Following the procedure that’s laid out in our Chapter 150, I mailed a second letter which was called 
a Notice of Hearing. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, do you have that and is that in the Commissioners’ packets? 

Keith Truman: Yes, that’s the second page. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and how many of those letters did you mail? 
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Keith Truman: To each of the three properties, I mailed one letter first class and also one letter registered mail with 
return receipt. 

Attorney Morrison: To each property? 

Keith Truman: To each property. 

Attorney Morrison: So you served them both by registered mail and by regular United States mail. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And that was entitled Notice of Hearing? 

Keith Truman: Notice of Hearing and it listed the address on each property on each letter; three separate letters. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and that would be in compliance with Section D, would it not?  If the owner fails to 
make prompt corrective action within 30 days, the inspector shall by certified or registered mail to the last known 
address give written notice, and then on to the next page, that the building or structure is in a condition that appears 
to meet one or more of the following conditions: constitutes a fire or safe hazard, is dangerous to life, health or other 
property, is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy or danger to children, has a tendency to attract 
persons intent on criminal activities, or other activities that would constitute a public nuisance.  Did you do that? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now Madam Clerk, we would introduce that, I believe the inspector will collectively 
all of those.  This would be Exhibit IV.  Is that correct? 

Clerk: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Do you receive those? 

Chairman White: Yes, we did.  Anyone have any objection entering that as evidence?  No objections. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now did you in fact subsequently conduct a hearing as specified in your notice? 

Keith Truman: We did and it took place July 30 or was it July 1?   

Attorney Morrison: Whatever is specified in the notice I think.  What does the notice say? 

Keith Truman: A hearing will be held in front of the Camden County Building Inspector on June 1, 2020.  So we 
had the hearing that day. 

Attorney Morrison: All right who attended the hearing? 

Keith Truman: Mr. Gary Overton and Ms. Geraldine Overton and myself and Dan Porter. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and at that hearing did you lay out what you contended needed to be done and why you 
had found the property to be unsafe pursuant to the ordinance? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what response did either of the Overtons make? 
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Keith Truman: They were in the process of trying to alleviate some of the problems.  The one property I believe on 
1275, someone was interested in buying that whole piece of property.  I'm not sure how many acres it is, maybe 10 
acres or something.  Not sure if he was going to fix the house up.  That wasn’t clear.  And he didn’t know for sure if 
he was going to be able to sell it and that he wanted to…would like to fix up the other houses and do something with 
them. It seemed to me that the finances was a challenge to accomplish that.  And that was primarily what we 
discussed. 

Attorney Morrison: All right after that, did you then make a ruling?   

Keith Truman: We did.  I issued them a third letter.  It’s an Order to Demolish and proper disposal of the two single 
family dwellings at 165 & 167 and then also the same for the other properties in question at 1275 and then also at 
1330.   

Attorney Morrison: All right and is that order also in the Commissioners’ packets? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And did you send that by…as to each property by registered mail and by regular 
United States postage prepaid?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And you sent it to the addresses that you previously did? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now did you also advise these folks that they have the right to appeal to the Board of 
Commissioners where we are tonight?   

Keith Truman: Yes, at that same meeting. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and did they in fact note an appeal within that 10-day parameter? 

Keith Truman: It’s my understanding that they contacted the Clerk I believe on the 10th day, I'm not sure. 

Attorney Morrison: All right so there’s no contention that they didn’t meet the deadline for this appeal. 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, sir.  Have you changed your opinion in any way since you issued that order? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: Has anything happened to the properties since that order? 

Keith Truman: No, I’ve been by them, all of them, several different times and nothing has changed.   

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now tell the commissioners why you think the property needs to be demolished. 
That’s a pretty big remedy. 

Keith Truman: From a financial standpoint, the likelihood of being able to make the repairs needed to the properties 
just is…probably would not be feasible in the condition and the age that they are.  They’re just too far gone. 
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Attorney Morrison: And did you form that opinion in part based upon your experiences as a general contractor? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right, now is there anything further you would like to testify about? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: At this point Commissioners, you may ask Mr. Truman questions if you have any. 

Chairman White: Any of the Commissioners have any questions?   

Vice Chairman Riggs: Did Mr. Truman ascertain how long those buildings had been sitting on the property with no 
one in them? 

Attorney Morrison: I believe he said for a lengthy period of time.  He has only been here two years.  But I’ll let him 
readdress it.  I believe you did testify that some of them had been sitting there for decades. 

Keith Truman: Dan Porter said they were there when he started for the County, which was approximately 2003, 
2004.  They have changed in that time. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.   

Chairman White: Any other questions? 

Commissioner Krainiak: Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman White: Yes, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Has there been any children on that property that you know of? 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of, unless…I don’t know who lives in the house. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Has there been any reports of vagrancy on that property? 

Keith Truman: No, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And no sickness or disease on that property? 

Keith Truman: I'm sorry? 

Commissioner Krainiak: Have you noticed any…it says disease, blight…disease, vagrancy, danger to children. 

Keith Truman: No.  Dangerous to children if they were to try to get inside the property.  One the one property 
there’s no door; it’s not there.  Anybody could climb inside of there. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And did you notice any reports from the Sheriff’s Department if they’ve had problems with 
children or any problems with anybody being hurt on that property in the last few years it’s been sitting there? 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of. 

Chairman White: Any other questions? 
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Attorney Morrison: All right, Mr. Overton, at this time you may ask Mr. Truman questions, not make a statement.  
But if you have questions of him you may do so at this time.  And if you would come up please to the microphone.   

Gary Overton: I would just like to ask you, these… 

Attorney Morrison: Wait a minute.  You have to stand there, you have to answer questions. 

Gary Overton: He’s made the statement about the outside of the buildings but he has not looked at the inside of the 
buildings. 

Attorney Morrison: All right well you can’t make the statement, you can ask.  I think he said he had not gone inside. 

Gary Overton: Okay, that’s what I want to ascertain; he has not been inside the building. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Do you have… 

Gary Overton: I have some pictures of evidence.  I have no way of… 

Attorney Morrison: We’ll tend to that.  But you’ll get to put on your case in just a moment.  Right now is your 
opportunity to cross-examine him.  Do you have any other questions you would like to ask him? 

Gary Overton: Okay.  Have you done any figures on what it would actually cost to fix these houses?  You made a 
statement that the economics would be too great.  Have you actually figured that out?  That’s…you’ve got to figure 
paper and pen before you actually make that kind of statement.  I have done the figures.   

Attorney Morrison: You can’t make a statement, just ask questions.  Your question to him was has he done a 
computation, okay.   

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Keith Truman: Without examining the insides of any of the properties I don’t know the extent of what would have to 
be done in order for it to be a viable house for someone to live in.   

Gary Overton: So you’re making a statement that you…it being cost prohibitive without doing a comprehensive 
study of the whole place.   

Keith Truman: In the condition that I see the houses in from the outside, I don’t see where anyone would take on 
that venture in my opinion. 

Gary Overton: Is it true that the outside not always tells the story of the inside?  I know lots of houses… 

Vice Chairman Riggs: I'm not hearing… 

Attorney Morrison: Just a moment…The question was to the effect is it true that the outside of a house does not 
always tell the condition of the inside of the house and therefore the whole value of what would have to be done.  Is 
that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, you may answer that question now. 



 
 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 
September 8, 2020 
 

Keith Truman: As I said, I have not gone inside the home so I have no way to base the exact amount it would take to 
make the house livable; the conditions of the insides of the house.  The ones on Alder Branch apparently has 
structural problems and the ones at 1330, the one that is failing and falling on the ground is bound to structural 
problems of some type just because of the twist and the bind it’s in.   

Gary Overton: So you’re making a statement of recommendation to demolish without a full assessment inside and 
out of the structure.  Is that what you’re saying? 

Keith Truman: Possibly, yes. 

Gary Overton: Thank you. 

Attorney Morrison: Any other questions, sir? 

Gary Overton: No. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And the Commissioners have no further questions based on that? 

Chairman White: Any further questions?   

Attorney Morrison: All right you may have a seat, Mr. Truman.  Now Mr. Overton, if you would come up, sir.  Mr. 
Overton, you heard my explanation.  I'm actually the attorney to the Board; not to the Building Inspector. 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: But I'm asking these questions not because I have an opinion one way or the other, but because 
this is what I do for a living and I can move the evidence along.  If you do not wish me to ask you questions, I will 
not.  I'm not going to cross-examine you.  I'm just going to try to get the basic evidence out with fewer contentions.  
So it is your option.  You may answer my questions of you may make a presentation on your own. 

Gary Overton: Can I retain that right on each individual question? 

Attorney Morrison: Yes, sir. 

Gary Overton: Okay.   

Attorney Morrison: For the record, give us your name please sir. 

Gary Overton: Gary Wayne Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Overton, what is your relationship to Geraldine Overton?   

Gary Overton: She’s my mother. 

Attorney Morrison: And are you familiar with the property that’s been discussed here and is in fact owned by the 
Abode of Camden and the other…I believe it was your father’s estate that your mother inherited?  Is that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right are you familiar with the conditions of this property? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 
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Attorney Morrison: All right.  How long have these properties been there, do you know; these structures? 

Gary Overton: We’ve been moving houses since 1984, well before the ordinances.  And some of them have been 
there from pretty near the beginning.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  

Gary Overton: I don’t have an exact age on all of them.  The only one that’s even close would be 1275 that was 
moved from Hardee’s and ya’ll have the records on that.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay and that was before Hardee’s was actually built and that was about 5, 6 years ago? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: And that would be the youngest one. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And that was an older house before…it was a store, was it not? 

Gary Overton: It was a house. 

Attorney Morrison: No?  It was a house.  Excuse me, okay.  And do you know approximately how old that house 
was at the time you moved it? 

Gary Overton: The best estimate we made was about 1959 because it was a great uncle of mine. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, all right.  Now the question obviously would arise why you move properties, I mean 
structures, to these properties and I believe it’s because you do this for a living.  Is that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, so this is part of how you would earn your income. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now you heard Mr. Truman testify as to the condition he found these properties.  What 
is your opinion?  Do you agree or disagree with what he said? 

Gary Overton: I disagree. 

Attorney Morrison: All right tell us specifically and could you go property by property? 

Gary Overton: Okay.  1275, I’ve got pictures completely inside.  She had no way of taking them off my phone and 
putting them on the screen so ya’ll could see.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay, let’s do this.  Madam Clerk is there a way…what we’ve got to do, Mr. Overton , is we 
have to make a record because either side’s got the right of appealing this.  Do you have some way you can text 
these to the clerk and then she make a file out of them? 

Gary Overton: I can text her, possibly email. 
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Attorney Morrison: All right.  If you would do that, it’s very important because otherwise it’s not going to be in the 
record and I don’t know if there’s going to be an appeal beyond this or not.  But like I told you, this is kind of like a 
court.  Okay so if you will promise that you will text these pictures you may now…Mr. Chairman, if the Board 
would permit he can step up and if you all could kind of gather around and he can show you the pictures and explain 
to you what they are. 

Chairman White: You can just have the Madam Clerk bring it forward or whatever you know. 

Attorney Morrison: Well I think he’s got them on his phone. 

Chairman White: Okay. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now Mr. Truman, you also have the right to be up here and look at these pictures as 
they are shown.  Okay so you can step up right there in the well and if everybody would kind of gather around and 
take a look at it.  All right you’ve got to speak up so everybody can hear you, including Mr. Truman. 

Gary Overton: All right, this is the 1330 properties, beach houses.  They are knotty pine paneling inside.  And I just 
want to show the condition of them.  Yes they’ve got some trash and stuff but that come from the beach that way.  
But they’re in good condition overall.  That’s bed slats.  I don’t see where these houses are all that…this house here 
is 1275.  It come from right over here.  And I'm not seeing the structural issues or even you know you’ve got a little 
bit of paint peeling right there.  But we’ve got carpet, we’ve got fresh paint.  It’s not that bad inside.  I'm not sure 
where we’re seeing the house is about to fall in at.  So you’re talking about me destroying a lot of money here.  I’d 
really like to put them on the tax rolls, as well as ya’ll and rent them out.  There’s people begging for houses every 
day.  I'm looking for an investor.  The last one I talked to is full of projects and it’s just a matter of time.  We need to 
turn this around and make it happen but I don’t see where these need to be torn down.  I can’t tell you I'm going to 
start on them tomorrow because I’ve got to find an investor.  This is what these houses look like inside.  Can 
everybody see pretty good?  You know that’s just…that’s the end of what I’ve got right there.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay now in order for us to make that part of the record you’re going to have to text that to the 
clerk so get that information from her.  All right sir, now is there anything I haven’t asked you that you would like to 
tell the Board to put into evidence.  Do you have any other exhibits or photographs or any other statements you want 
to make?   

Gary Overton: That’s the big thing right there; that they’re not in as bad condition as what they’re being made out to 
be.  Yes, they look a little bit rough on some of the siding and some of the exterior things, but that’s part of fixing 
them up and getting them squared away.  And like I say, I have people begging for me to fix them up and rent them 
to them.  I’ve just got to find a financier.  Since my dad passed I’ve taken on a lot, a lot of responsibility.  I’ve got all 
this, plus I have a job that right now I'm working six and seven days a week, 12 hours a day.  It’s just a lot for one 
person to do.  I can’t give you a timeline and say they’re going to be done tomorrow because I’ve got ten of them all 
together actually and it’s just…it’s a lot to do.  If I get someone to come in, a private investor, yeah my target…I’d 
love to have one every six months; possibly speed up quicker after I get rolling with them.  But I’ve got to find the 
money man.   

Attorney Morrison: All right sir, anything else you would like to say?   

Gary Overton: That’s about it.  I just…please give me your consideration in this.  I know it’s been a while since Dad 
passed but I'm working diligently all I can and work with me the best you can. Let’s get them on the tax rolls and get 
some income coming in for everybody.   

Attorney Morrison: Anything else, sir? 



 
 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 
September 8, 2020 
 

Gary Overton: That’s it, thank you. 

Attorney Morrison: Thank you very much.  Now just a moment please.  Mr. Truman, you may cross-examine.  You 
do not have to, but if you have any questions about his testimony you may ask. 

Keith Truman: Basically… 

Attorney Morrison: Come forward please, sir. 

Chairman White: Yeah you’ll need to come to the microphone. 

Attorney Morrison: Yeah and this is your opportunity to ask him questions; so only questions at this point. 

Keith Truman: Looking at the pictures that we all looked at, I mean obviously like the one at 1275 appears to be in 
fairly good condition.  It’s hard to tell from the picture.  My question would be what I see through the doorway at 
165 Alder Branch you know is not a good scenario.  And I also would question the… 

Attorney Morrison: You’re making a statement.  Do you have a question?  You’ll get to make a statement in a 
minute.  But do you have a question? 

Keith Truman: My question would be what do the houses look like at 165 & 167 on the inside?  And then also what 
does the house look like that’s sitting down on the ground sideways where it’s settled?  I’d be curious to see what 
those looked like in comparison to your pictures of the other two. 

Gary Overton: The one with the knotty pine was one of those three.  There is one floor joist on that corner.  We have 
put together houses in a whole lot worst shape.  Dad and I jacked houses back together and put them together.  It’s 
one floor joist on that corner.  --- holds it up. 

Attorney Morrison: All right sir, do you have any other questions? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, thank you.  Mr. Overton, you may have your seat now.  It is now under procedure 
since the County has the burden of proof, they get to offer rebuttal evidence, which they may or may not have.  Now 
Mr. Truman at this point you can, if you have it, but you’re not required, to offer any testimony or any documents to 
contradict anything he said.  You can’t go into a new topic but if you have anything regarding his testimony that you 
want to contradict by testimony or exhibits you can do it.  That’s call rebuttal.  Do you have any such rebuttal? 

Keith Truman: No, not other than the questions I just asked.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, fine.  Then the evidentiary is concluded.  If you would please, Commissioners, let’s go 
to…if you’ll go to page 26 of the ordinance, paragraph H: The Board of Commissioners shall hear their appeal 
within a reasonable time, which you have done.  The Notice of Hearing shall be sent to the owner in writing 
certified or registered and posted on the outside of the structure in question.  That was done.  The hearing 
conducted shall be quasi-judicial.  We have met that standard.  The Board of Commissioners…all right, so this is 
where we are now.  The Board of Commissioners may affirm, that means you can uphold what the Building 
Inspector did, modify and affirm, that would mean okay, I'm going to affirm that the County takes action but I'm 
going to do something different than what you did, or you can revoke the Inspector’s order.  You can no, we’re not 
going to do anything.  Okay, so those are your options and that is what is before you now.  And at this point you can 
discuss it and you can deliberate on it but the deliberations must be in public.  If you wanted to recess, you can do 
that but you can’t talk about it amongst yourselves.  So I assume you want to go ahead and do it tonight.   
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Chairman White: Does anybody want to ask any questions of Mr. Truman or Mr. Overton?  Does anybody want to 
deliberate and discuss it? 

Commissioner Krainiak: I want to ask Mr. Overton one question. 

Chairman White: Otherwise we can close this hearing. 

Commissioner Krainiak: I want to ask Mr. Overton one question. 

Chairman White: Sure. 

Attorney Morrison: You’re still under oath. 

Gary Overton: Okay. 

Commissioner Krainiak: The back page of these pictures shows that the two houses…the school bus and the other 
one. 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: From this picture it doesn’t look like it’s salvageable. 

Gary Overton: It is. 

Commissioner Krainiak: It is? 

Gary Overton: I know exactly why the roof is doing that.  It was doing that day one, when he brought it in.  It’s a 
very simple fix.  I could probably fix it in about a day, day and a half worth of labor.  It’s very simple. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Okay.  From this picture it doesn’t look too good. 

Gary Overton: No, it doesn’t, it doesn’t.  It’s covered in vines. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Because I was thinking the other ones look like…the ones you showed me pictures of, it 
looked like they were salvageable houses; still functioning, you just put them someplace. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And I know what you’re talking about; moving houses and stuff like that.  I'm familiar with 
that, as well.  But the other ones look like they’re goners.  So if you were to say you were going to take those houses 
down, I think that would be a good step forward.  But if you think they’re salvageable the question is… 

Gary Overton: Yes.  

Commissioner Krainiak: …my question is…I know you’re looking for an investor but we need to know when.   

Gary Overton: I'm talking with Mr. Chuck Hodge out in Arizona.  He’s a friend of Mr. Randy Williams.  I know 
ya’ll are familiar with…people local here are familiar with Mr. Randy Williams, now lives at the beach.  He said 
he’d come before ya’ll and beg for some time.  He didn’t give me a timeframe.  He’s got all his money tied up right 
now but he’s willing to work with me and either invest himself or find a friend of his to invest.  That’s not saying 
100% that’s going to happen because we’re people and talks may break down amongst anybody.  But I feel like I 
got a good start and I have another option, someone that might be interested.   
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Commissioner Krainiak: That’s all I have. 

Chairman White: Anyone else have any questions they’d like to ask?  Okay if not, do we have a motion to close the 
hearing?   

Motion to close the hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Chairman White: We’re now out of public hearing.  So now we need to take each property separately and the first 
one is 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road in Shiloh.  So we either need to affirm, deny or modify. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman White: Yes, sir. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: I would like the attorney to clarify the modify.  If we were to modify the order and say that he 
has a certain period of time to make a measurable improvement… 

Attorney Morrison: You’ll need to define measurable improvement. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Right.  Like I mean you say… 

Attorney Morrison: Yes, you’ve got great latitude. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Right.  You can say we’re going to give you 90 days to make this building waterproof and 
not covered in vines.  That’s two measurable pieces.  That was an example of the one that’s covered in vines.  If you 
remove the vines and make it waterproof in a period of time that’s a measurable…that’s what I'm talking about 
when I say a measurable improvement.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  Yeah, you could do that.  I would think if you want to do that you would also want to 
have it inspected to come back before you and the property would have been inspected by Mr. Truman and Mr. 
Truman would give a report of what he finds. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Well I don’t have the same opinion of all of the property but I did with his…one of them he 
had pictures. 

Attorney Morrison: The Chairman is doing this correctly.  You’re going property by property.  So you can do that. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: So we can modify on any one of them.  As we go through them one by one we can modify 
one. 

Attorney Morrison: You could do something like this, Commissioner Riggs.  I think this is what you meant.  Okay, 
we’re going to uphold the demolition order of the inspector unless within 90 days or thereabouts as set by the Board, 
but not sooner than 90 days, you can come in and show us proof that you’ve done A, B, C, D.  And that will be 
confirmed by the Building Inspector.  And if you can’t do that, then the demolition order will stand.  If that’s what 
you’re thinking about that’s the kind of thing that you have the option to do. 
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Commissioner Krainiak: Mr. Chairman… 

Chairman White: So the first one we’re talking about is the 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.   

Commissioner Krainiak: He knows…Mr. Overton knows his budget, knows what he can do.  I would like to suggest 
that we give him 30 days to come up with a plan of which ones he can start improving on first and complete first.  
And then you know if he says that one house can be completed with $2000 or $20,000 or whatever it may be, 
complete the job.  And let him come up with a plan that says this house will be completed by this; this house will be 
completed by this and this and this.  You know because we…if we start putting the little constraints on each of those 
pieces of property we don’t know what his budget is going to be.  Like he did say he was working 12 hours a day 
just to maintain a business his daddy… 

Chairman White: Okay we’re just discussing right now.   

Attorney Morrison: All right discussing options.  Let me put my lawyer hat back on.  It would be something like this 
I think that…you’re going to uphold the demolition order unless within 30 days he comes back with a plan, a written 
plan, containing like how much it’s going to cost and when he’s going to start construction and so forth, on each of 
these properties or whatever properties you tell him to.  And if he doesn’t come back with that plan that meets your 
satisfaction then the demolition order will stand.   

Commissioner Krainiak: That sounds fair and just. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right but you can do it as to all properties or you can do it as to individual properties.  
You can go ahead and say the order stands as to this or it doesn’t stand as to any of them or we’re going to modify it 
and do something like Commissioner Krainiak is talking on all of them or one of them or however you want to do it. 

Chairman White: Okay.  What is your pleasure?  Right now we’re talking about 165 & 167 Alder Branch.   

Attorney Morrison: Maybe the best way to do it, is there any property that the Commissioners think they want to 
revoke the demolition order period?   

Vice Chairman Riggs: The only one that I'm sitting here right this moment considering would be the 1275. 

Chairman White: That’s the one that’s in the better shape; pictures. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: That’s the newest-moved piece of property. 

Attorney Morrison: Now what you can do is…and I don’t have any opinion what the rest of you feel, but you could 
move to revoke the demolition order as to that property, okay, and then that’s off the table and we’re not dealing 
with that anymore. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: So the way you worded it, we’re going to stand with the demolition order unless he can come 
back with a plan of execution and a timeline in which it can done in a safe and productive manner. 

Attorney Morrison: In your discretion.  It’s got to be presented to you that you would approve that.  But what I am 
suggesting is there may be a property which you don’t think anything needs to be done to it right now.  Again, I 
have no opinion.  If there is a property that you don’t think bears demolition under any circumstances, now is the 
time to go ahead and identify that and take it off the table.  If on the other hand, you think all of them are subject to 
demolition then the plan we’re talking about would be for all the properties.  You need to address each property 
specifically or say all.   
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Chairman White: Okay.   

Vice Chairman Riggs: I'm waiting on ya’ll. 

Commissioner Krainiak: I’d rather just put a stay on it and give it a 30-day plan and see what he can start 
contributing to get it complete. 

Attorney Morrison: But that would be as to all properties, right; all structures? 

Commissioner Krainiak: All the properties, and you’re talking about 30 days.   

Attorney Morrison: All right then this is what I think is what the Commissioner’s motion would be; you are going to 
amend the revocation order, modify it, that the demolition will stand unless within 30 days…or we need to give him 
a date specific, but we’ll pick a date that we’ll meet.  He comes back with a specific plan of what he’s going to do to 
the property to make it safe, that’s the definition, with a budget and a timeline as to when that construction will be 
completed satisfactory to the Commissioners. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Correct. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, and that would be with regard to all properties.  And if he does not do that and he does 
not satisfy you in 30 days then the demolition will proceed.  Is that what you want to do?   

Commissioner Krainiak: Sounds fair.  I make that motion.  Whatever all that he just said, I make that motion.   

Chairman White: Randy has made a motion basically that… 

Commissioner Krainiak: That was a mouthful. 

Chairman White: …that the demolition will not take place but within 30 days he’s got to come back with a written 
plan and basically state how he’s going to make these properties safe… 

Attorney Morrison: I think we need to specific, Mr. Chairman, that he will come back to a Board of Commissioners 
meeting; that we’re going to recess the deliberation, then he has to come back on a time and date certain. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Our next meeting is on the 5th.   

Chairman White: I’d put it in November because the 5th is not really 30 days.   

Attorney Morrison: All right so you can put it to November 5th.  That’s give him the better part of 60 days.   

Chairman White: Which gives you more than 30 days.  So… 

Attorney Morrison: November 2nd, okay. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: The 2nd of November.   

Attorney Morrison: The 2nd of November, 7:00.  And he’s got to…so he doesn’t have to have the repairs made so 
therefore the inspector doesn’t need to go out and confirm anything.  But he’s got to come back and…Mr. Overton, 
as I understand this motion, you’re going to need in writing this is what I'm going to do to each one of these 
properties.  You’re going to need to say this is the budget that it will take to do this and you’ve got to say I can have 
it done by this time.   
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Chairman White: Yeah I’d say a timeframe you know.  It needs to be realistic.   

Attorney Morrison: Then the Commissioners can agree to that, and if you carry that out there will be no demolition.  
But if the Commissioners do not agree to what you come in with, the demolition will take place forthwith, correct? 

Chairman White: Correct.  Everybody understand the motion?   

Attorney Morrison: Do you understand that, sir? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Chairman White: Any discussion?  And this is on all properties so can we lump it together? 

Attorney Morrison: All properties.  And if you don’t come back with anything then the properties are going to be 
demolished.  Okay. 

Chairman White: So we have the motion.  All in favor of the motion say aye.   

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Randy Krainiak 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
ITEM 7.  CONSENT AGENDA          
 

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – August 3, 2020 
 

B. Closed Session Minutes 
 

C. Budget Amendments 
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D. DMV Monthly Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

E. Tax Collection Report 
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F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100 
 

 
 

G. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 
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H. Authorization for CARES Act Disbursements 
 

 
 

I. Resolution 2020-09-04 NCDOT Request 
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J. Set Public Hearing - Set Public Hearing for Sale of Property located within the Camden County Commerce 
Park. 

 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Clayton Riggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
ITEM 8.  COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        
County Manager Ken Bowman included the following in his report: 

• A COVID-19 test site was established at the New Sawyer’s Creek Baptist Church on August 24th.  
Approximately 60 people participated. 

• CARES Act Funding – To date over 70 small businesses in Camden County have participated and 
submitted applications for grant funding.  Over $100k has been disbursed to these small businesses.  The 
next phase of the program will soon be implemented which focuses on upgrades and improvements within 
the departments, schools and partnerships.  Appreciation to Alexandra Lekki for her excellent work in 
meeting with the local business owners and getting the word out about this program. 

• Met with Dr. Ferrell on August 20th to visit Grandy Primary School to get a firsthand look of what they are 
experiencing with the new normal.  It is a challenge for the teachers and the students as all as the parents.   

• Ashley Jennings has completed the certification program for Deputy Register of Deeds through the NC 
Association of Registers of Deeds.  Ashley is now a Certified Deputy Register of Deeds.  Congratulations! 

• The Governor has moved the State into Phase 2.5, which has allowed Parks and Recreation to reopen our 
playgrounds. 

• Camden County has the lowest unemployment rate in the State for the month of July at 6.1%. 
• The application requesting LGC approval of issuance of the proposed bond for $33m for the high school 

was formally approved by the LGC on September 1, 2020. 
 
ITEM 9.  COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         
None. 
 
ITEM 10.  INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    
The following was provided for information purposes: 
 

A. Library Report 

B. Register of Deeds Report 
 
ITEM 11.  OTHER MATTERS          
None. 
 
ITEM 12.  ADJOURN           
 
There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White called for a motion to adjourn. 
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Motion to adjourn. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 
MOVER: Garry Meiggs 
AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 
ABSENT: Munro 

 
Chairman White adjourned the meeting at 10:00 PM. 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
             
Tom White, Chairman     Karen M. Davis 
Camden County Board of Commissioners   Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 


